IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 68,266

DAVID ROSS DELAP,

Appellant,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Dany

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT DAVID ROSS DELAP

Gerry S. Gibson STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS 4000 Southeast Financial Center Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 577-2806

Attorneys for Appellant

PREFACE

In this brief, the appellant, David Ross Delap, who was the defendant in the criminal proceedings below, will be referred to as "the defendant."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 27, 1976, in the Nineteenth Judicial
Circuit in and for Okeechobee County, Florida, David Ross Delap
was convicted of the murder of Paula Etheridge and sentenced to
death. This Court reversed the conviction since the State
failed to produce a complete trial transcript for appellate
review.1/ Delap v. State, 350 So.2d 462 (Fla. 1977). On
remand, venue was changed to the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and
for Orange County, Florida. The defendant was tried in the
Orange County Circuit Court before Judge Philip Nourse,
convicted on one count of premeditated murder, and sentenced to
death. The judgment of conviction and sentence of death were
affirmed by this Court. Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla.
1983), cert. denied, ______ U.S. _____, 104 S.Ct. 3559, 82
L.Ed.2d 860 (1984).

On December 19, 1985, the defendant filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure in the Orange County Circuit Court. This motion sought the vacation of the defendant's conviction

 $[\]underline{1}/$ Although the State failed to produce a sufficient transcript of the trial for appellate review, transcripts of pretrial depositions, hearings and the trial testimony of the State's two key witnesses, Dr. Hampton Schofield and Lem Brumley, survived. These transcripts were available to the defendant's attorneys upon his retrial.

and sentence of death due to (1) a denial of effective assistance of counsel, (2) violation of the right to effective cross-examination of adverse witnesses guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States, and (3) violation of the defendant's right to due process arising from the prosecution's suppression of impeachment evidence bearing upon the credibility of the only witness at trial to testify concerning the defendant's alleged oral confession. The defendant's motion for post-conviction relief presented the facts and arguments to the trial court which are summarized below.

THE POINTS RAISED IN THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF

A. The First Trial Testimony of Dr. Hampton Schofield

The prosecution's principal witnesses at trial were Dr. Hampton Schofield, the Okeechobee County Medical Examiner, and Lem Brumley, the State Attorney's Chief Investigator for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit. Motion, at 8. These witnesses presented the only testimony at trial directly probative of the crucial issue of premeditation. In addition to their testimony at the trial which resulted in the defendant's current conviction and death sentence, both Dr. Schofield and Lem Brumley had testified at the defendant's previous trial. Brumley had also given other sworn written and oral pretrial

statements concerning the details of his investigation of the case and the defendant's alleged oral confession.

During the defendant's first trial, the prosecution proceeded upon a theory of felony murder and upon the theory that the defendant was guilty of premeditated murder. However, at the conclusion of this first trial, the trial court ruled that the evidence presented was insufficient to support a felony murder basis for conviction. Motion, at 7. And, upon remand of the case from this Court, the prosecution pursued only a premeditated murder theory. Motion, at 9.

At the first trial of the defendant, and when the prosecution was still proceeding upon both felony murder and premeditated murder theories, Dr. Schofield testified that based upon his autopsy and medical examination of the decedent, he was unable to establish any most probable cause of death. Thus, during the defendant's first trial, the State was unable to present the jury with any definite cause of the victim's death. Rather, Dr. Schofield offered two possible causes of death, either strangulation or a skull fracture. When asked whether he could narrow down the cause of death, the doctor replied, "I would rather not suggest that one [cause of death] was more prominent than the other." T.R. II 2965. Motion, at 8. At the defendant's first trial, Dr. Schofield also testified under oath:

(i) That the only injury he had located upon the body of the decedent was a small injury or fracture to the bone of the skull (T.R. II 2957);

- (ii) That the injury to the skull of the decedent which he had been able to locate was a type of injury which was consistent with a fall from a moving vehicle upon hard pavement. (T.R. II 2964); 2/
- (iii) That he had also noted a collection o blood consisting of two parallel markings on the side of the decedent's neck, which had caused him to consider strangulation as a probable cause of death, but that "I have considered the probable cause of death was by strangulation, but I have no

- Q. Could it [the hairline skull fracture] have easily resulted from a fall from a moving vehicle and striking the head on the pavement?
- A. It could have been caused by any such blow to the head, whether falling from such a situation as you suggest.
- Q. Now, this was a hairline fracture?
- A. They are usually leading off into a trail like, somewhat irregular. It is not like a blow to the skull that is caused by an object such as a hammer.
- Q. This would leave a crunching type fracture as opposed to a hairline fracture?
- A. It usually does, yes.

TR. II 2968.

At this same time, Dr. Schofield also testified that the small hairline fracture he had been able to observe could not have been caused by a man's fist. TR. II 2969.

^{2/} At Defendant's first trial Dr. Schofield had testified:

findings to corroborate or sustain it." (T.R. II 2958 and 2960). 3/ Motion, at 8-9.

The defendant's motion for post-conviction relief which is the subject of this appeal pointed out that mysteriously, at some point before Delap's second trial, which the State tried solely upon a premeditated murder theory, the State's evidence concerning cause of death changed from an uncertain cause, but most likely a blow to the head consistent with a fall to pavement, to virtually certain death by strangulation. No explanation was offered by the State for this new realization — the body was not exhumed and re-examined, no new experts reviewed the autopsy reports, and no new evidence was uncovered.

TR. II 2960.

³/ And, in the very next sentence of his direct examination testimony, Dr. Schofield further diminished strangulation as a cause of death.

Q. Doctor, would you give, then, as the probable cause of death?

A I have considered the probable cause of death was by strangulation, but I have no findings to corroborate or sustain it. I have definitely considered that the blow to the head caused the fracture allowing blood to enter inside the head. In the case of Paula, it would be one or the other and it could be one without the other and with the findings of the other case [one in which Dr. Schofield observed a fall to pavement causing death, see T.R. II 2964] and this recent case, that is highly probable.

However, the defendant's trial counsel did not seek any explanation of this important change in the evidence or take any action to refute or exclude this new and changed testimony, which first came to light at the defendant's retrial. Motion, at 9.

B. The Second Trial Testimony of Dr. Hampton Schofield

At the defendant's second trial, based upon the very same autopsy and medical examination testified to previously, Dr. Schofield, still the Okeechobee County Medical Examiner, asserted for the first time that he could "present a logical cause of death." T.T. 349. Reversing his previous sworn testimony, Dr. Schofield stated upon direct examination that his medical findings from the autopsy of Paula Etheridge were "consistent with strangulation" and that "this person must have been strangled." T.T. 350-351. In fact, Dr. Schofield went so far in recanting his earlier trial testimony as to conclude for the jury's edification that strangulation "presents itself time and time again as being the most prominent cause of death." T.T. 384. Motion, at 9-10.

Defense counsel made absolutely no effort on cross-examination of this crucial witness to cast doubt upon the credibility of this damaging testimony which was essential to the State's premeditated murder theory, by bringing before the jury Dr. Schofield's previous and inconsistent sworn testimony

concerning the cause of Paula Etheridge's death. The jury which convicted the defendant of premeditated murder and sentenced him to death consequently never knew that Dr. Schofield had previously testified under oath that, based upon the very same medical examination of the decedent, "I have considered the probable cause of death was by strangulation, but I have no findings to corroborate or sustain it . . ." T.R. II 2958 and 2960. Motion, at 10.

Moreover, following Dr. Schofield's new and damaging testimony concerning strangulation as the most prominent cause of death, defense counsel made no effort to adjourn the trial to obtain expert testimony to refute this new conclusion, to move for a mistrial, or to take any action at all based upon the prosecution's failure to reveal this changed expert opinion concerning cause of death prior to trial. Id.

C. Lem Brumley

At trial, the most important member of the prosecution team and the single most important witness against the defendant was Lem Brumley, the State Attorney's Chief Investigator for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit. Brumley was in charge of the investigation of the case, personally interrogated and arrested the defendant, and participated in handling the State's handling of the case before and during trial. He was the only witness who ever testified that the defendant had allegedly confessed to deliberately strangling Paula Etheridge.

Lem Brumley twice testified at trial concerning the defendant's alleged oral confession concerning the death of Paula Etheridge. At Delap's first trial, Brumley testified that the defendant had confessed to turning his car off State Road 710, taking Paula Etheridge from the vehicle, and beating her to death with some unknown object picked up from the side of the road. At the second trial, over the objection of defense counsel, Brumley was allowed to remain seated at the prosecution table throughout trial after the rule for sequestration of witnesses had been invoked. Seated at counsel table, Brumley heard Dr. Schofield's changed testimony concerning the cause of death. After Dr. Schofield's testimony, Lem Brumley took the stand and asserted for the first time in the history of the case that the defendant had confessed to not only beating, but to strangling Paula Etheridge. For the very first time, Brumley stated the defendant confessed that he had "choked her . . . until she was dead." T.T. 795. Motion, at 10-11.

D. Lem Brumley's First Trial Testimony

In pretrial statements and during his first trial testimony about the details of the defendant's alleged oral confession made after hours of interrogation, Brumley testified consistently that the defendant allegedly confessed to killing Paula Etheridge by striking her on the head with some unknown object picked up from the side of the road. As Brumley

testified under oath at Delap's first trial, the alleged confession concerning the moment of Paula Etheridge's death came out this way:

He [Delap] turned off into Rollison Road and went a distance of approximately a hundred yards and stopped on the side of the road. He got out of the car and picked up something on the side of the road and started beating her in the head. He seemed not to know how many times he had hit her, but that when he quit, he checked her and she was not breathing. He knew she was dead . . .

(T.R. II 2990). Motion, at 11. (emphasis added).

E. Lem Brumley's Second Trial Testimony

At the outset of the defendant's second trial, the defense sought to exclude Lem Brumley from the courtroom under the rule for sequestration of witnesses. The prosecution successfully resisted Brumley's exclusion from the courtroom. The prosecution argued not only that Lem Brumley was a distinguished law enforcement officer of twenty-six years standing, but also that he had made multiple, earlier statements under oath concerning the matters about which he would testify. The following argument over this issue took place before the trial court:

MR. SCHWARTZ [for defendant]: It would be very crucial and prejudicial to have him [Brumley] sitting and listening to all of the other witnesses and then come in and testify as to the matter that we are certain he is going to testify to.

MR. STONE [for the State]: Well, Mr. Brumley's testimony is in a deposition and in a previous trial. Mr. Brumley is an experienced law enforcement officer of twenty-six years. Mr. Brumley is not going to change his testimony today because of what he hears in the courtroom.

They [the defense] had the opportunity [to examine Brumley] as this man was under oath five or six times. He is not going to sit here and change his story at trial.

(T.T. 332 and 325). Motion, at 12-13.

Yet, in spite of this assurance given by the State Attorney, Lem Brumley did change his testimony at trial, and in a manner which conformed his testimony concerning the cause of Paula Etheridge's death to that of Dr. Hampton Schofield, who also changed his testimony on this matter. And, in spite of the prosecution's invitation to cross-examination, neither Brumley nor Schofield was cross-examined or impeached concerning his previous, different testimony.

At Delap's second trial, Lem Brumley's testimony about the defendant's alleged oral statements concerning the circumstances of Paula Etheridge's death changed in a crucial and material respect. As if taking a cue from Dr. Schofield's new opinion that strangulation "presents itself time and time again as the most likely cause of death," Brumley testified for the very first time that the defendant allegedly confessed to strangling Paula Etheridge and choking her to death. Brumley's

second trial testimony on this crucial feature of the prosecution's premeditated murder theory went as follows:

He [Delap] turned left on Rollison Road, and went down the road about a hundred yards and stopped. He had continued holding her around the neck, and he stopped, and he got her out of the car and picked up something on the side of the road, and he dan't remember what it was, and he did commence to beat her in the head with this object. He said he was strangling and beating her. He said he didn't remember how many times he had hit her, but after several blows, he stopped, and he checked her, and she was dead.

(T.T. 741).

* * *

- Q. [By Mr. Stone] Did he say what he did then after he got around the overpass on State Road 70, what happened then?
- [By Mr. Brumley] Yes. He said that he continued on and she was fighting and kicking and was having trouble holding the car on the road . . . As they come over the overpass and went on State Road 710, a short distance, there is a filling station there, and this car that contained the women and children had pulled off the road and stopped at the filling station. Also there was a semi-trailer that was in front of him at that time. He said he started to pass the truck, and she was still putting up a fight by that time. He fell back behind the truck. He said that at this point, he was at Raulerson Road, and he turned on Raulerson Road and drove aways down there and stopped the car; that he got her out; that he was still holding her; that he got her out of the car and that he started beating her in the head with something . . .

He said he beat her and choked her there until she was dead.

(2d T.T. 794-79) (emphasis added). Motion, at 11-12.

E. The Impact of the Changed Strangulation Testimony on the Trial and Subsequent Proceedings

The new testimony concerning the alleged strangulation death of Paula Etheridge from Dr. Hampton Schofield and Lem Brumley affected all of the subsequent proceedings in which the defendant was convicted of premeditated murder and sentenced to death. Although defense counsel made no attempt to impeach Dr. Schofield and Brumley concerning the allegation that Paula Etheridge had been strangled, the defendant's attorneys were clearly aware of the importance of this testimony to the State's premeditated murder theory and demand for the death penalty. In fact, defense counsel chose to remind the jury of the importance of the strangulation testimony in final argument:

Also, we have to look at the cause of death in determining whether first degree murder occurred, because the cause of death is probative in most instances of whether or not premeditation occurred. In other words, if we are talking about the layman's term of strangulation as a cause of death, I submit that would be probative of first degree murder, because in order to put the hand around the neck, or as we were talking about a ligature of some kind, a string or rope, and tighten it, I would submit that requires some kind of reflection that you actually are going to do something until the person doesn't respond any more.

(T.T. 937-38). Motion, at 13.

The members of the jury, during their deliberations in the guilt phase of the trial, requested that the testimony of only one witness be read back to them. That witness was Lem

Brumley. Moreover, the jury did not want to hear all of Brumley's testimony, but only the portion in which he had described the defendant's alleged oral confession. T.T. 1034-44. Motion, at 14.

In imposing the death penalty upon the defendant, the trial court based that sentence in part upon a finding of the statutory aggravating factor that the murder was extremely cruel, heinous and atrocious. This Court then affirmed this result based upon the strangulation death testimony of Dr. Schofield and Lem Brumley:

Evidence of the victim's kidnapping, her struggle, her pleas for help, and the extremely cruel beating and strangulation death supports the finding that the murder was extremely cruel, heinous, and atrocious.

F. The Failure of the Defendant's Trial Attorneys to Present Any Cohesive Defense to the Charge of Premeditated, Strangulation Murder.

In spite of the fact that Delap's trial attorneys were clearly aware of the devastating impact of the strangulation testimony of Brumley and Dr. Schofield on the life and death issue of premeditation, and even expressed this awareness to the jury, no expert medical testimony was presented on Delap's behalf to demonstrate the absence of evidence to support

Schofield's altered conclusion that Paula Etheridge's death had been caused by strangulation. Defense counsel did not present to the jury the fact that Dr. Schofield had previously testified that he had made no observations in his medical examination to corroborate or sustain a finding of strangulation. Upon being confronted with this new medical conclusion as to the cause of Paula Etheridge's death, Delap's attorneys did not even make an attempt to have the trial recessed to obtain any expert rebuttal testimony. Motion, at 15.

In fact, no witnesses or evidence at all were presented upon Delap's behalf at trial. Thus, Delap's attorney's were depending exclusively on cross-examination as the means for creating reasonable doubt concerning the State's case in the minds of the members of the jury. Id.

During trial, the defendant expressed concern and surprise to his attorneys that Dr. Schofield and Lem Brumley had changed their previous testimony to include statements that Paula Etheridge had died of strangulation and that he had allegedly confessed to strangling and choking her to death. The defendant repeatedly asked his attorneys to use the previous trial testimony of these witnesses to show the jury the discrepancies in their statements concerning the cause of Paula Etheridge's death. The defendant's trial counsel responded to these requests by advising their client that each trial was separate and that testimony from the first trial could not be used in the second trial. Motion, at 16-17.

Delap also asked his attorneys to permit him to take the stand and testify concerning the circumstances of Paula Etheridge's death. Delap's attorneys refused to countenance this request, and Delap reluctantly acceded to their advice. As a result, the jury never heard Delap's version of events which supported a finding that Paula Etheridge died accidentally and was not killed with premeditation. And, because Delap's attorneys failed to effectively cross-examine and impeach the strangulation testimony of Dr. Schofield and Lem Brumley, the jury also never knew of the inconsistencies and embellishments in that testimony, which became the crucial link in the prosecution's premeditated murder theory. Motion, at 17.

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