IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

)

DAVID ROSS DELAP,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CLER By Dany Chier Dopention CASE NO. 68,266

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LEE ROSENTHAL Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief did not state any legally sufficient claim. The instant record, as a whole, refutes Appellant's allegations as to ineffective assistance of trial counsel. An evidentiary hearing on either of Appellant's claims would be an exercise in futility because, even if taken at face value, Appellant's allegations of changed testimony would not have affected the outcome of his trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT ON ITS FACE.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing and by failing to attach portions of the record to show that Appellant is not entitled to postconviction relief. However, <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u>, Rule 3.850 reads in part:

> If the motion and the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief, the motion shall be denied without a hearing. In those instances when such denial is not predicated upon the legal insufficiency of the motion on its face, a copy of that portion of the files and records which conclusively shows that the prisoner is entitled to no relief shall be attached to the order. (emphasis added)

Appellee submits that, in the case at bar, Appellant's motion was insufficient on its face and thus there was no need to attach portions of the record to show why he was not entitled to relief. <u>Gulley v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Watkins v. State, 413 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

The law is also clear that under 3.850 procedure, a movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing <u>unless</u> the records <u>conclusively</u> show that the movant is entitled to no relief. <u>O'Callahan v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1985); <u>Meeks v.</u> State, 382 So.2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1980). Since, sub judice, no portions of the record were attached to the trial court's order, the presumption must be that the lower court's ruling was based on the face of the pleading. Thames v. State, 454 So.2d 1061, 1066 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Because Appellant's motion, when viewed in the light of the entire record at bar, clearly shows that the movant is entitled to no relief, the trial court correctly denied relief without an evidentiary hearing. <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 1218, 1221 (Fla. 1985); <u>Mann v.</u> <u>State</u>, 482 So.2d 1360, 1361 (Fla. 1986); <u>Porter v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1985); <u>Harich v. State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 119 (Fla. March 18, 1986). Appellee will proceed to illustrate <u>how</u> the instant record <u>conclusively</u> shows that no legally sufficient point has been raised by Appellant. A. APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF DID NOT STATE ANY LEGALLY SUFFICIENT GROUNDS TO BASE AN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM ON.

Appellant first contends that impeachment testimony was not adduced that would have affected the jury's determination of premeditation (AB 25, 26). Specifically, Appellant claims that testimony of Dr. Schofield and Lem Brumley changed significantly from the first trial to the second trial in regard to the specific act causing Paula Etheridge's death (AB 30).

Appellant argues that if the jury had considered earlier testimony indicating that Paula Etheridge was beaten to death, rather than strangled, they would have concluded that a lack of evidence existed to find premeditation. Appellant also contends that the evidence of strangulation supported the finding of the aggravating factor that the murder was extremely cruel, heinous and atrocious (AB 33, 34). This latter contention is at odds with the record at bar (R. 2460-2461), and with this Court's prior recitation of the facts, which was:

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES

(a) The capital felony was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment in that the Defendant was convicted of the felony of "unarmed robbery and an assault with intent to commit rape", and under sentence and parole therein. For details see State's exhibits in evidence # 25 and # 26.

(b) The Defendant was previously convicted of another felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, said felony being the same felony

- 13 -

referred to in paragraph (a) above.

(c) The Defendant knowingly created a great risk to many persons when he drove down Highway # 70 with one arm on the wheel of the automobile in question and the other arm holding the victim in such a manner as to allow her to hang out the banging open door of the vehicle. This reckless driving could easily have resulted in a collision with either another vehicle or a school bus resulting in death to many persons.

(d) The capital felony was committed while the Defendant was engaged in the commission of a kidnapping, robbery, and rape.

(e) The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain.

(f) The capital felony was especially cruel.

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

(a)--(g) none

(h) The Defendant's behavior at his second trial and during his stay on death row (as determined by the court's own personal investigation) was acceptable. Perhaps there was some remorse. It is unfortunate that the law upon the conviction of the first offense does not allow for castration in cases of this nature for then neither the school teacher nor the defendant would be in their current predicament.

This Court finds from the evidence the aggravating circumstances exceed the mitigating circumstances in this case, thus warranting both the jury and the Court's death sentence. (emphasis added)

Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242, 1254-1255 (Fla. 1983).

This Court did not conclude the finding that the murder was cruel, heinous, and atrocious was based upon a strangulation theory (see, AB 33-34). Instead this Court concluded that: Evidence of the victim's kidnapping, her struggle, her pleas for help, and the extremely cruel beating and strangulation death supports the finding that the murder was extremely cruel, heinous, and atrocious.

440 So.2d at 1257. Appellee therefore submits that the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, <u>infra</u>, has not been met by Appellant's pleadings.

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held that there are two parts in determining a defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel:

> First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.

80 L.Ed.2d at 693; <u>see also</u>, <u>Quince v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 493, 494 (Fla. September, 1985). In explaining the appropriate test for proving prejudice the Court held that "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." 80 L.Ed.2d at 698. As the Court explained in <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 668 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984), the basis for the Sixth Amendment guarantee of the right to counsel is to ensure the adversarial system functions. When trial counsels' representation is reviewed in light of these standards, it is evident that Appellant received effective assistance and it is apparent that even if the cause of death was found to be from a beating, cruel and atrocious circumstances would still exist. Appellee does not at all concede that alleged inconsistencies in testimony would merit a change in concluding what the specific cause of death was. Appellee merely challenges the significance this hypothetical situation would have.

The fact is, in the opening statements, both defense counsel and prosecution stated that Appellant falsely imprisoned Paula Etheridge and forceably kept her in his car (R. 328, 331, Defense counsel asserted that the victim's death could 332). have occurred in many ways (R. 332). Dr. Schofield testified, not that he could testify as to the cause of death within a reasonable medical certainty, but merely that he thought he could present a logical cause of death (R. 341-342, 349). The Doctor's theory was that a combination of causes were present (R. 349), i.e., a skull fracture and strangulation (R. 350, 351). Dr. Schofield didn't know the cause of the skull fracture or when it occurred (R. 383) and he merely postulated that the most prominent theory as to the cause of death was strangulation (R. 384).

- 16 -

The only difference between the above testimony and Dr. Schofield's first trial testimony was that, at the first trial, the Doctor said he would rather not suggest that either cause (the skull fracture or strangulation) was more prominent (R. 2965). Dr. Schofield's first trial testimony was consistent in mentioning the markings found on the victim's neck indicated strangulation (R. 350, 351, 2958). Dr. Schofield, on crossexamination, admitted at trial No. 2, that he could not be certain that death was caused by strangulation (R. 372-374), and, consistent with his first trial testimony, he still believed there were two possible causes of death (R. 355, 2960). Appellee submits the record clearly reveals that trial counsel functioned effectively; moreover Appellant has not made a showing to this Court that but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. State v. Bucherie, 468 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1985).

As to Lem Brumley's testimony, Appellee submits its chief significance was in establishing the element of premeditation during the guilt phase of the trial. The record support for this assertion is overwhelming and defense counsel's closing argument is illustrative as counsel argued for a conviction on <u>second degree</u> murder (R. 946-947), admitting the evidence showed Appellant's criminal responsibility (R. 932), but contending that Mr. Brumley's recollection was suspect (R. 947). The prosecution argued that Mr. Brumley's testimony

- 17 -

indicated that Appellant struck the victim on the head, and then she was silent (R. 963). This argument was made to support the proposition that the element of premeditation existed (R. 962). Support for the cruel and atrocious circumstances came from the testimony of Brumley <u>and other</u> witnesses who observed Paula Etheridge in mortal fear, screaming and hollering and trying to exit the car (R. 966).

For example, witness Ava Leonard saw a car swerve into her yard (R. 470), with a girl hanging out of the door of the car screaming, "help me, God somebody help me" (R. 470). The car was swerving all over the road (R. 470-471). The girl was wearing a red blouse and tan or brown shorts (R. 471). Ms. Leonard's daughter, Becky McCoin, also witnessed the same incident (R. 475-477).

Lois Huff testified that on June 30, 1975, between 5:15 and 6:30 p.m., while driving east on Highway 70 with her daughters she saw something unusual in her rear view mirror (R. 479-480). Namely, a woman struggling with a man in a car, trying to get out of the car (R. 480). The right-hand door of the car was open.

Walpole truck driver, Willie Kelly, saw a '75 Plymouth or Dodge with faded color proceeding at approximately 40 to 50 miles per hour, with a door open and a hand hanging out of the door (R. 507-509). The door was closed all the way back against the hand (R. 517).

- 18 -

It is obvious from the instant record that evidence apart from Lem Brumley's testimony existed to support the finding that the murder was cruel, heinous, and atrocious, and that the murder was a premeditated one. Moreover, there is no factual basis existing to conclude that the theory of strangulation, as a cause of death, necessarily forced a determination that the circumstances were cruel and atrocious. Even if strangulation were automatically equated with this "cruel and heinous" factor, that would still leave <u>four</u> other aggravating circumstances previously approved by this Court, <u>Delap</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1254, so the sentence would have remained unchanged, <u>see</u>, <u>Middleton</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1224.

Appellant also argues that defense counsel's cross examination of Dr. Schofield and Lem Brumley deprived him of his "...Fifth (sic) Amendment right to effective cross examination..." (AB 36). <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdale</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 39 Cr.L. 3007 (April 7, 1986), and <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308 (1974) are cited in support of this claim, but in both cases the <u>trial court prohibited</u> questions that could have brought out possible bias of prosecution witnesses. In the case at bar, there was no trial court ruling inhibiting cross examination of the State witnesses, and cross examination of the two witnesses was vigorous and thorough.

Dr. Schofield was forced to admit that he could not prove that the victim was manually strangled (R. 356). He

- 19 -

further admitted that breakage of the hyoid bone would be consistent with manual, premeditated strangulation (R. 359-360), and Dr. Schofield also stated that he found the victim's hyoid bone was normal (R. 361). Before defense counsel was through with Dr. Schofield, the doctor had to admit the possibility existed that death could have been caused by a blow to the neck, cutting off air to the lungs (R. 384-385). Surely cross examination in this instance was constitutionally effective. Whether or not it would have been more effective to have used minor inconsistencies in Dr. Schofield's prior testimony for impeachment purposes is purely second-guessing, a classic illustration of the use of hindsight to prove an ineffectiveness claim. <u>See</u>, <u>Strickland</u>, 80 L.Ed.2d at 694-695.

As to the failure to impeach Lem Brumley with his prior trial testimony, Appellee asserts that the inconsistency pointed out by Appellant was minor. At the <u>first trial</u>, Brumley testified that Appellant confessed that the victim struggled considerably while in his car, and to subdue her Appellant held onto her with his right <u>hand around her neck</u> (R. 2988). Brumley also stated how Appellant related that he beat Paula Etheridge, until he observed she was no longer breathing (R. 2990). At the second trial Brumley related a similar version of the facts regarding Appellant's beating the victim, except that he did state that Appellant told him he beat <u>and</u> choked the victim until she was no longer breathing (R. 745). Although this particular

- 20 -

inconsistency was not brought out at the second trial, Mr. Brumley's recollection was impeached as to a statement made to him by Appellant (R. 839) and Brumley was forced to admit that the notes he had taken of Appellant's confession were sketchy (R. 866). Altogether Appellant has failed to make any claim that, even if supported by evidence, could establish any substantial and prejudicial deficiency of performance. <u>See generally</u>, <u>Troedel v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 736, 737 (Fla. 1985); <u>Middleton v.</u> <u>State</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1226. Moreover, with regard to each witness, Appellee asserts the method of cross examination was a matter of trial tactics, and Appellant has not shown any possible change in the outcome that would have resulted, had his proposed strategy been followed. <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 287, 290 (Fla. 1983).

Appellant's contention regarding the failure to request a <u>Richardson</u> hearing also falls within the realm of trial tactics and there was no factual basis for trial counsel making this request. <u>See</u>, <u>Middleton</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1225.

Likewise the decision not to call Appellant as a witness, was a tactical decision. Based on Appellant's previous trial testimony, it appears this decision was prudent. In the first trial Appellant's testimony was devastating to his case (R. 3187-3190, 3196, 3211, 3219, 3224, 3231-3232). Appellant's convenient lapses in memory were inconsistent with his own testimony and other witnesses' recollections of his statements (R. 3121, 3123, 3219).

- 21 -

As the United States Supreme Court explained in <u>United</u> <u>States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984), the basis for the Sixth Amendment guarantee of the right to counsel is to ensure the adversarial system functions. When trial counsels' representation is reviewed in light of these standards, it is quite evident, that Appellant received effective assistance. B. APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT TO STATE GROUNDS FOR RELIEF BASED UPON THE ALLEGED WITHHOLDING OF IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE.

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